Case No. S266344

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STEPHEN K. DAVIS,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

FRESNO UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, AND HARRIS CONSTRUCTION CO., INC.

Defendants and Petitioners.

After A Published Decision By The Court Of Appeal Fifth Appellate District Case No. F079811

> From the Superior Court, County of Fresno, Case No. 12CECG03718 The Honorable Kimberly Gaab

PETITIONER FRESNO UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Mark L. Creede (SBN 128418) mlc@lrplaw.net Stan D. Blyth (SBN 166938) sdb@lrplaw.net LANG RICHERT & PATCH, PC Post Office Box 40012 Fresno, California 93755-0012 (559)228-6700 • FAX (559)228-6727

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Review was granted on a single issue, to wit: "Is a leaseleaseback arrangement in which construction is financed through bond proceeds, rather than by or through the builder, a "contract" within the meaning of Government Code section 53511?"

INTRODUCTION

The singular issue presented for review, concerning whether certain lease-leaseback arrangements fall within the meaning of the term "contracts" as used in Government Code section 53511,¹ revisits an issue first examined by this Court in City of Ontario v. Superior Ct. (1970) 2 Cal.3d 335, and one of paramount importance to school districts throughout California using the lease-leaseback method for constructing and renovating schools, particularly where funding for these projects comes from the sale of tax-exempt bonds.² Under the lease-leaseback

¹ Gov. Code § 53511 lists the matters subject to validation under Chapter 9, as "bonds, warrants, contracts, obligations or evidences of indebtedness."

² "The most common means by which California school districts finance new school construction is the issuance of "general obligation bonds."

These bonds serve much the same function as home loans obtained by homeowners to finance the purchase, construction, or improvement of their homes. Bond buyers supply the issuing school district with immediate funds to apply to construction projects, and the district then repays the bonds over time, with interest, 'by an annual levy of an ad valorem tax on real (and certain personal) property located within the area of the district." (92 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 1 (2009).)

construction method, a school district typically leases property to a developer, who in turn builds a school facility on the property and leases it back to the school district, with title passing to the school district at the end of the lease term.

In City of Ontario, supra, this Court noted that while Government Code section 53511 does not expressly qualify the term "contracts," the legislative history and statutory context indicates that the term does not apply generally to all contracts, but rather should be construed in pari materia with the other terms in the statute. In construing the term "contracts," this Court expressed concern over the City of Ontario's sweeping contention that the Validation Statutes³ should be found to apply to all municipal contracts. This was particularly troubling in the context of what this Court saw as a dramatic expansion of the Validation Statutes in 1963, when Government Code section 53510 extended the availability of the Validation Statutes to any "county, city, city ... public district or any public or municipal corporation, public agency or public authority," and Government Code section 53511 extended the use of validation proceedings to any action to determine the validity of a local agency's "bonds,

³ Code Civ. Proc. §§ 860-870.5 (hereafter the "Validation Statutes")

warrants, contracts, obligations or evidences of indebtedness." In this regard, this Court aptly noted:

"... since 1963, if the City's construction of the word 'contract' is correct, virtually every taxpayer has become an 'interested person' with regard to virtually every action of a local public agency. It is unreasonable to assume that the members of such a large and amorphous group are likely to have prompt notice of each agency action affecting them. Yet whether such a person has such notice or not, he is given only 60 days in which (1) to discover the existence, scope and effect of the agency's action, (2) to reach a conclusion as to its validity, (3) to determine whether the agency has instituted a validating proceeding or imminently intends to do so, and (4) if not, to prepare and file a proceeding of his own. In an age of increasingly complex government, this seems a heavy burden to impose on the vigilant taxpayer. And it is certainly a far cry from the Judicial Council's original concern for conformity with the Rules on Appeal." (City of Ontario, supra, 2 Cal.3d at p. 342.)

With these concerns in mind, this Court indicated the term "contracts," as used in Government Code section 53511, should be read narrowly to involve financial obligations similar to the other terms in the list of matters for which a validation proceeding may be used, but stopped short of definitively adopting this definition. As such, this Court did not hold that section 53511 applies only to direct challenges to "the validity of evidences of indebtedness."

Rather, this Court left the door open to *indirect challenges* that do not directly seek to invalidate bonds.⁴

In November 2001, the voters in the Fresno Unified School
District (the "District") approved the Measure K Facilities Bond, a
\$199 million bond facility specifically earmarked for the
construction of new schools in Fresno to reduce overcrowding and
to provide funding for technology upgrades and for other school
modernization projects.⁵

On September 26, 2012, the District approved a plan to use some funds from the Measure K bond facility to build the Rutherford B. Gaston Sr. Middle School (the "Middle School Project")⁶ to serve children in southwest Fresno, a predominantly minority, low-income community where more than 90% of the children are eligible for free school lunches. The "contracts" involved in this case were for construction of the Middle School Project. This new school was needed to replace the old, dilapidated Carver School and to serve some 600 local students

⁴ (See e.g., *Graydon v. The Pasadena Redevelopment Agency* (1980) 104 Cal.App.3d 631.)

⁵ https://facilities.fresnounified.org/measure-q-measure-x-bond/; Measure K Ballot Text.

⁶ https://facilities.fresnounified.org/measure-q-measure-x-bond/; September 26, 2012 – Adopt Resolution 12-01, Authorizing the Execution of Lease-leaseback Agreements for Construction of Rutherford B. Gaston Sr. Middle School, Phase II.

who had been subject to being bussed out of their neighborhood due to the unavailability of adequate facilities.⁷

The Middle School Project was built pursuant to a "lease-leaseback" arrangement, an alternative to competitive bidding requirements, specifically authorized under Education Code sections 17400, et seq., under which the District leased the project site to Harris Construction Co., Inc. ("Harris") for \$1 dollar a month (the "Site Lease"). Harris then subleased the property back to the District for monthly payments that would pay for the construction of the school (the "Facilities Lease"). The total price for the Middle School Project was to be \$36,702,876, and the school was to be built in 595 days.8

Because the bonds used to finance the Middle School Project were issued as *tax-exempt* bonds,⁹ interest payments by the District were excludable from a bond purchaser's gross income for federal and state income tax purposes provided that the District

⁷ See Fresno Unified School District's Facilities Master Plan Fact Sheet, at https://www.fresnounified.org/wp-content/uploads/Facilities-Master-Plan.pdf and "Fresno Unified Picks Site For New Middle School", Fresno Bee, 9/17/10, at https://www.fresnobee.com/news/local/education-lab/article19506669.html

⁸ See Facilities Lease, Appellant Davis's Appendix ("AA") at pp.143-158. ⁹An exempt facility bond is any bond issued pursuant to IRC § 142, where at least 95 percent of the net proceeds are used, or are to be used, to finance construction of an exempt facility, including a "qualified public educational facility" such as the Middle School Project.

complied with each of requirements set forth under section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("IRC") and the accompanying Treasury Regulations, which place limitations on a school district's ability to use arbitrage to enhance the project financing ability of bond sale proceeds.

Because the interest income paid on bonds issued by school districts for capital projects is not generally subject to federal and state taxation, such bonds offer lower interest rates than taxable bonds or other comparable fixed or variable rate investments. As a result of the lower interest rates offered on tax-exempt bonds, arbitrage is often an important additional financing component for a school district's capital projects. An exemption from the yield restrictions otherwise imposed on such arbitrage is allowed if, and only if, 85% of bond proceeds placed in a project fund are expended on a designated capital project within three years of the date of issuance of the bonds.¹⁰

If the Validation Statutes do not apply a lease-leaseback arrangement in which construction is financed through the proceeds of tax-exempt bonds, a taxpayer like Plaintiff-Respondent Stephen Davis ("Davis") might file suit during the

¹⁰ See Treasury Regulation section 1.148-2(e)(2).

first year of construction or thereafter, leaving insufficient time for the school district to correct any problem found by the court to exist, and reissue the agreement within the designated three-year period. Moreover, even if the court subsequently approves the lease-leaseback arrangement, if a preliminary injunction has significantly delayed construction of the project, it could prevent the necessary percentage of funds from being expended within the mandated three-year time period, thereby causing the bonds to lose their tax-exempt status.

Because of the lower interest rates paid to purchasers of tax-exempt bonds, there would effectively be no market for such bonds should the interest paid on these bonds be potentially subject to federal and state income taxation. The possibility of this scenario is likely to have a chilling effect on a school district's ability to sell bonds to underwriters in order to fund the construction and rehabilitation of schools. Or, alternatively, underwriters might only buy the bonds if the interest rates are set significantly higher, to account for this risk of losing the tax exemption. For this reason alone, prompt action under the Validation Statutes is integral to a lease-leaseback arrangement

in which construction is financed through tax-exempt bond proceeds. As the Court of Appeal so aptly noted:

"A validation action implements important policy considerations. '[A] central theme in the validating procedures is speedy determination of the validity of the public agency's action.' [Citation]... The validating statutes should be construed so as to uphold their purpose, i.e., 'the acting agency's need to settle promptly all questions about the validity of its action.' [Citation.]

"... Assurance as to the legality of the proceedings surrounding the issuance of municipal bonds is essential before underwriters will purchase bonds for resale to the public." (Friedland v. City of Long Beach (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 835, 842, 73 Cal.Rptr.2d 427 [Emphasis supplied].)

Allowing a taxpayer to challenge a bond-funded lease-leaseback arrangement one or more years after award would defeat the very purpose of the Validation Statutes and is tantamount to allowing a challenge to the tax-exempt status of the bonds which, if successful, would likely result in the dissipation of the market for such bonds.

The lineage of appellate cases subsequent to City of Ontario, supra, have continued to apply the rationale used by this Court and, as such, have continued to confer a narrow scope on the term "contract" when analyzing agreements under section 53511.

However, this analysis is not inconsistent with finding the subject lease-leaseback arrangement falls within the meaning of

"contracts" under Government Code section 53511, as subsequent appellate cases have found contracts which are neither "in the nature of," nor "directly related to"11 nor "inextricably intertwined"12 with bonds, warrants, or other evidences of a governmental entity's indebtedness not to be "contracts" within the meaning of Gov. Code section 53511. As such, "contracts" for purposes of the Validation Statutes have been held not to include: (1) a contract to hire a public defender; (2) a contract to acquire a computer system; (3) an award of a franchise to operate garbage dumps, (5) as such agreements do not directly relate to nor are they intimately intertwined with a public agency's bonds warrants, or other evidences of a governmental entity's indebtedness. (16)

However, under this Court's rationale in *City of Ontario*, as applied in the subsequent lineage of appellate cases construing Government Code section 53511, this Court should find the lease-leaseback arrangement between the District and Harris is a

¹¹ (Kaatz v. City of Seaside (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 13, 42.)

¹² (See Hollywood Park Land Co., LLC v. Golden State Transportation Fin. Corp. (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 924, 935.)

¹³ (*Phillips v. Seely* (1974) 43 Cal.App.3d 104, 112.)

^{14 (}Smith v. Mt. Diablo Unified Sch. Dist. (1976) 56 Cal. App. 3d 412, 420.)

¹⁵ (Walters v. County of Plumas (1976) 61 Cal.App.3d 460, 468.)

¹⁶ (See e.g., *Graydon v. Pasadena Redevelopment Agency* (1980) 104 Cal.App.3d 631, 645.)

"contract" within the meaning of Government Code section 53511, as the bonds issued by the District were "directly related to" and "intimately" and "inextricably bound up" with the award and financing of the subject lease-leaseback arrangement.¹⁷

STATEMENT OF FACTS

To fund construction of the Middle School Project, the
District used funds from the Measure K Facilities Bond, a \$199
million bond facility that was approved by voters in March 2001, 18
and from the Measure Q Facilities Bond, a \$280 million bond
facility that was approved by voters in November 2010. 19 On
September 28, 2011, the District sold General Obligation Bonds
authorized by Measures K and Q, Measure K Series G bonds in
the amount of \$55,570,914.90, and Measure Q Series B bonds in
the amount of \$50,434,849.50 (the "Bonds"). 20

The Bonds were issued as "Current Interest and Capital

Appreciation Bonds," and were sold to underwriter Piper Jaffrey

¹⁷ (*Id.*, at p. 646.)

¹⁸ https://facilities.fresnounified.org/measure-q-measure-x-bond/; Measure K Ballot Text.

¹⁹ https://facilities.fresnounified.org/measure-q-measure-x-bond/; Measure Q Ballot Measure – Full Text.

https://facilities.fresnounified.org/measure-q-measure-x-bond/; Bond Purchase Agreement – Measure K, Series G and Measure Q, Series B, p. 2.

on September 28, 2011 for resale to the public.²¹ The bonds were issued for the specific purpose of providing funds for the acquisition and construction of certain public educational facilities. ²²

On September 26, 2012, the District adopted Resolution No. 12-01 (AA at pp. 17-21), authorizing the execution of the Site lease and Facilities Lease whereby the District would lease the project site to Harris, who would build the Middle School Project, and thereafter, lease the improvements and the site back to the District. The lease-leaseback transaction was comprised of two agreements, the Site Lease (AA, pp. 133-141) and the Facilities Lease (AA, pp.143-158) (collectively the "Lease-Leaseback Agreement.")²³

The Site Lease provides that beginning on September 27, 2012, the District would lease the site to Harris for \$1 in rent (AA, p. 135.) Pursuant to the Facilities Lease, the District paid monthly progress payments for construction services up to 95% of

https://facilities.fresnounified.org/measure-q-measure-x-bond/; Bond Purchase Agreement – Measure K, Series G and Measure Q, Series B, p. 2.

https://facilities.fresnounified.org/measure-q-measure-x-bond/; Measure K Ballot Text: Measure O Ballot Measure – Full Text

²³ The two lease-leaseback contracts are considered collectively as one agreement under the Validation Statutes.

the total value of the work performed, with a 5% retention pending acceptance of the Middle School Project and recordation of the Notice of Completion. (AA, p. 171). The Middle School Project was completed on November 13, 2014 (AA, p. 249) and a Notice of Completion was recorded on December 4, 2014 (AA, p. 252).

The Middle School Project was a great success. More than 800 Fresno children currently attend the Gaston Middle School.²⁴ The school also includes a full-service health center, providing much needed health care to children and adults who cannot otherwise afford it.²⁵

Notwithstanding the success of the Middle School Project, on November 20, 2012, Davis filed a "reverse validation" suit against both the District and Harris, claiming that the lease-leaseback arrangement was illegal, in that it did not satisfy the requirements of the Education Code, and that the District had a conflict of interest with Harris and as such, Davis was entitled to a remedy of disgorgement. (AA, pp. 6-14).

²⁴ See "Southwest Fresno Dedicates New Middle School," ABC News, 9/19/14, at https://abc30.com/education/southwest-fresno-dedicates-new-middle-school/316820/

²⁵ See "School Health Centers Are Big Boost for Fresno," Fresno Bee, 2/12/17, at

https://www.fresnobee.com/opinion/editorials/article132083134.html

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On November 20, 2012, Davis filed his reverse validation action challenging the Lease-Leaseback Agreement, alleging the District improperly used the lease-leaseback procedures under Education Code section 17406 and that the lease-leaseback arrangement between Harris and the District was illegal, void, and unenforceable and seeking disgorgement of all monies paid to Harris (AA, pp. 6-14).

On March 18, 2013, in response to the District's demurrer and motion to strike portions of the complaint, Davis elected to file a first amended complaint (the "FAC") (AA, pp.106-127.)²⁶ On April 22, 2013, the District filed a second demurrer and motion to strike portions of the FAC on the grounds that the District followed the procedures set forth in the Education Code and that the allegations set forth in the FAC were not supported by the law (District's Appendix ("RA"), pp. 4-6.) The District prevailed on its demurrer (RA, pp. 8-12,) and judgment was entered in favor of the

Davis brought his FAC pursuant to Code Civ. Proc. § 863. No other basis for standing was alleged by Davis in the FAC and the Court of Appeal did not question the use of the Validation Statutes. Moreover, Davis has repeatedly conceded that his action is a reverse validation action, including his concession during oral argument on the subject motion for judgment on the pleadings. Further, the Court of Appeal previously found Davis's FAC to be a timely filed reverse validation action. (*Davis v. Fresno Unified School District* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 261, fn. 4 ("*Davis I*".)

District and Harris (RA, pp.14-18.) Davis then appealed (RA, pp. 19-20.)

On June 1, 2015, in its Davis I opinion, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's ruling as to four causes of action: (1) a claim for conflict of interest between Harris and District; (2)/(3) claims that the lease-leaseback arrangement did not comply with the statutory requirements of the Education Code, and (4) a derivative claim for declaratory relief. In doing so, the court incorrectly opined²⁷ that the Legislature's main purpose in allowing lease-leaseback arrangements was to provide school districts with a new method of financing school construction, whereby the contractor could use his contract with the school district to obtain third-party financing for a project. (Davis I, supra, 237 Cal.App.4th at pp. 276–280.) The court found that because the District used its own funds (obtained from the Bond issuance approved by Fresno's voters) instead of third-party financing obtained by Harris, the lease-leaseback arrangement was invalid. (Id. at p. 280.) The Court of Appeal also concluded that the Facilities Lease was invalid because it was "not a true lease," as it did not provide for the District's occupancy of the

²⁷ See discussion infra.

school during the lease term. Therefore, the Facilities Lease violated the competitive bidding provisions of the Education Code. (*Id.* at pp. 287–289.) The case was then sent back to the trial court for a trial on the merits relating to the remaining causes of action. (*Ibid.*)

On, April 6, 2016, the District filed a motion for judgment on the Pleadings (RA, pp. 21-43), which was denied on May 11, 2016 (RA, pp. 45-51.) Thereafter, on August 22, 2016, Davis filed a motion for summary adjudication on the statutory and common law conflict of interest claims against Harris (RA, pp. 52-70.) On February 16, 2017, Davis's summary adjudication motion was heard and denied. (RA, pp. 72-74.)

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