#### Case No. S266344

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STEPHEN K. DAVIS, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

FRESNO UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, AND HARRIS CONSTRUCTION CO., INC.

Defendants and Petitioners.

After a Published Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District Case No. F079811

> From the Superior Court, County of Fresno Case No. 12CECG03718 The Honorable Kimberly Gaab

#### ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Kevin R. Carlin, Esq. (SBN 185701) Carlin Law Group, APC 4452 Park Blvd., Suite 310 San Diego, CA 92116 Telephone: (619) 615-5325 Facsimile: (619) 615-5326 Kcarlin@carlinlawgroup.com

Attorneys for Respondent, STEPHEN K. DAVIS

####

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

condition of closing under the Bond Purchase Agreement. [Id. at p. 11, ¶ 6, SA0027.]

In compliance with 26 C.F.R. § 1.148-2(b) District's Superintendent certified District's "reasonable expectations as of the issue date regarding the amount and use of the gross proceeds of the issue" by way of the Anti-Arbitrage Certificate executed on October 13, 2011 concurrent with Districts sale of bonds certifying and covenating relative to those bonds, in relevant part, as follows:

(d) Completion of Project; Investment of Building Funds; Capital Expenditures. The District has entered into a contract for construction with respect to the Project 5, which contract constitutes a substantial binding obligation of the District to a third party and will be in excess of five percent (5%) of the "Net Sale Proceeds" of the Bonds (namely, an amount of proceeds of the Bonds equal to the issue price of the Bonds, below, less accrued interest, if any). The District will proceed with due diligence to complete the Project and to spend the proceeds of the Bonds. Completion is expected by September 1, 2014. All expenditures from the Building Fund will be capital expenditures. Not less than eighty-five percent (85%) of the Net Sale Proceeds will be spent within three (3) years of the date hereof. Amounts deposited in the Building Funds will be invested without yield restrictions for the period from the date

The term "Project" in the District's bond related documents referred to more projects than just the Project at issue in this litigation as evidenced by the difference in the amount of the bond issue (\$108,432,318.35 [DOB FN 61, 62; SA0074]) compared to the amount District authorized to pay for its contract with Builder (\$36,702,876 [DOB FN 6; SA0011]).

hereof to the date that is three (3) years after the date hereof unless earlier expended (the "3-year Temporary Period"). Interest earnings and gains resulting from investment of each Building Fund will be retained in that Fund and used for the payment of costs of the Project. Proceeds of the Bonds and interest earnings and gains thereon, if any, remaining in the Building Funds following the 3-year Temporary Period will be invested at a yield not in excess of the yield of the Bonds (see below) or yield reduction payments under Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), will be made to the federal government with respect to such investment after the end of the 3-year **Temporary Period.** Amounts, if any, remaining in the Building Funds upon completion of the Project will be retained in the Building Funds and used for capital expenditures in furtherance of the governmental purposes of the District (emphasis added). [DOB FN 61, 62; SA0071-72.]

- (f) <u>Pledge of Tax Revenues: Excess Tax Revenues.</u>
  The District has pledged the receipts from certain levies of ad valorem property taxes on taxable property within the boundaries of the District (the "Tax Revenues") to the payment of debt service on the Bonds....[DOB FN 61, 62; SA0072.]
- (j) No Improper Financial Advantage. The transaction contemplated herein does not represent an exploitation of the difference between tax-exempt and taxable interest rates to obtain a material financial advantage and does not overburden the tax exempt bond market in that the District is not issuing more bonds, issuing bonds earlier, or allowing bonds to remain outstanding longer than is otherwise reasonably necessary to accomplish the governmental purposes of the Bonds. [DOB FN 61, 62; SA0073.]

- (l) Rebate Requirement. The District has covenanted in the Resolutions to comply with requirements for rebate of excess investment earnings to the federal government to the extent applicable and acknowledges that the first payment of excess investment earnings, if any, is required to be rebated to the federal government no later than sixty (60) days after the end of the fifth (5th) bond year for the Bonds. No portion of the Bonds will constitute a private activity bond within the meaning of section 141 (a) of the Code, the average maturity of the Bonds is greater than five (5) years and none of the interest rates on the Bonds vary during the term of the Bonds. As a consequence of the foregoing, investment earnings on the Debt Service Funds will be excluded for the purposes of computation of the amount required to be rebated to the federal government as referenced in this subparagraph without regard to the total amount of said earnings. The use of actual facts is elected for purposes of determining eligibility for and compliance with any expenditure exceptions to arbitrage rebate. [DOB FN] 61, 62; SA0073.]
- (m) Yield of the Bonds. The Underwriter has represented that the yield of the Bonds is 6.5791%, determined on the basis of regularly scheduled principal and interest payments on the Bonds, adjusted by assuming present value in lieu of certain principal payments in the case of Bonds constituting certain discounted term Bonds, if any, and by assuming certain early redemption of principal in the case of certain yield-to-call Bonds, if any, all in accordance with the procedures for computing the yield on a fixed yield issue contained in Treasury Regulation §1.148-4(b). Said amounts are all discounted to the issue price of the Bonds of \$108,432,318.35 (being the face amount of the Bonds of \$106,005,764.40, plus net original issue premium of \$2,426,553.95.... [DOB FN 61, 62; SA0074.]

On the basis of the foregoing, it is not expected that the proceeds of the Bonds will be used in a manner that would cause the Bonds to be arbitrage bonds within the meaning of section 148 of the Code and applicable regulations. To the best of my knowledge, information and belief, the expectations herein expressed are reasonable and there are no facts or estimates, other than those expressed herein, that would materially affect the expectations herein expressed [emphasis added]. [DOB FN 61, 62; SA0076.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 13th day of October, 2011.
Michael E. Hanson

Superintendent [DOB FN 61, 62; SA0076.]

Based on the foregoing good faith and informed certifications by District's Superintendent, and because, according to Weiss v. S.E.C. (D.C. Cir. 2006) 468 F.3d 849, 851, IRS regulations "look to whether the issuer reasonably expected to satisfy the three tests for arbitrage exemption under 'as of the issue date,' and because the issue date for the bonds in question was more than one year before Taxpayer filed his initial complaint there can be no way Taxpayer's action could cause District's general obligation bonds to lose their tax exempt status as asserted by Petitioners. Simply stated, the District promised to the prospective buyers of their bonds at the time of sale that they would take all steps necessary and required by law to ensure the interest earned on the bonds remained tax exempt. No subsequent taxpayer litigation could change that.

#### IV. MCGEE'S CONCLUSION THAT THE LEASE-LEASEBACK AGREEMENTS WERE SUBJECT TO VALIDATION IS LEGALLY INCORRECT AND SHOULD BE DISAPPROVED BY THIS COURT TO PROMOTE UNIFORMITY OF LAW AND SOUND PUBLIC POLICY IN CALIFORNIA

Petitioners cite to McGee v. Torrance Unified School

District (2020) 49 Cal.App.5th 814 ("McGee III") in support of
their assertion Davis II should be reversed. McGee cannot stand
that weight and instead should be disapproved by this Court to
promote uniformity of law and sound public policy in California.

The *McGee III Court* stated; "[h]ere, the challenged lease-leaseback agreements were "funded through Torrance Unified School District General Obligation Bond Measure[s]." (See *McGee II*, supra, 247 Cal.App.4th at p. 240, 202 Cal.Rptr.3d 251 ["The contracts were awarded to Balfour and were funded through a general obligation bond."].) *Id.* at p. 824.

The McGee III Court's conclusion at p. 824 "[t]hus, the lease-leaseback agreements involved the District's financial obligations and were inextricably bound up in the District's bond financing, bringing them within the scope of 'contracts' covered by Government Code section 53511" is contrary to 50 years of jurisprudence and sound public policy regarding the interpretation and application of Government Code § 53511. From Ontario v. Superior Court (1970) 2 Cal.3d 335 to Davis II California Courts have construed Government Code § 53511 and statutes like it narrowly to limit the application of the Validation

Statutes to only contracts which involve financing and whose lack of prompt validation would impair the public entity's ability to operate financially. Moreover,  $McLeod\ v.\ Vista\ Unified\ School\ Dist.$  (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 1156 cited by  $McGee\ III$  is distinguishable because it involved an action that directly challenged the validity of a planned bond issuance and the lack of a prompt validating procedure would impair the district's ability to issue those bonds. Id. at 1170. In the McGee cases the bonds that funded the challenged contracts were in existence prior to the award of those contracts.

Contracts financed with general obligation bonds, unlike those financed with project related lease revenue bonds, tax increment bonds or other bonds funded by a particular project, do not have the ability to impair the public entity's ability to operate financially because general obligation bonds are funded by all taxable property within a public entity's jurisdiction rather than by the specific project or specific properties within a redevelopment area. Taxpayer litigation involving projects funded by pre-existing general obligation bonds does not have the ability to meaningfully impair the tax assessed value of properties within an entire school district to such a degree as to impair the school district's ability to operate. As further assurance ad valorem tax revenues can satisfy general obligation bond debt, the amount of general obligation bond debt a school is allowed to take on is limited by statute to ensure sufficient ad valorem tax revenues exist to satisfy it. See Education Code § 15270, § 15268, § 15102, 15106, 15270, etc. See also 56 Cal. Jur.

### A. This Court Should Distinguish Wilson Upon Which McGee III is Based

In *McGee III* the trial court entered judgment dismissing taxpayers' in personam conflict of interest claims because the challenged projects had all been completed, which it held rendered the reverse validation action moot based on *Wilson & Wilson v. City Council of Redwood City* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1559.

The facts of *Wilson* are that a law firm brought an action against "the City Council of Redwood City (City Council), the City of Redwood City (Redwood City), and the Redwood City Redevelopment Agency (Redevelopment Agency) (hereafter collectively the City)<sup>6</sup> to challenge the approval and construction of a retail-cinema redevelopment project in Redwood City's downtown. Plaintiff Wilson asked the court to invalidate resolutions enacted by the City Council and the Redevelopment Agency and to void agreements entered into by the City to carry out the redevelopment." *Id.* at 1563. *Nowhere in Wilson is a* 

Neither the party that received the money from the city under the allegedly illegal contract nor "All Persons Interested" in the action are recognized by the <u>Wilson</u> Court as being parties to the action. They would have to be parties to the action in order to grant disgorgement relief which is the remedy for illegal public entity contracts.

void contract disgorgement remedy sought against a defendant named in that action. Instead, the prayer for relief "requested that the court direct the City Council and the Redevelopment Agency to seek reimbursement "for all monies illegally and improperly spent on the Project." Id. at 1567. The foregoing relief is a remedy the Wilson Court could not grant because "[i]t has long been held that a government entity's decision whether to pursue a legal claim involves the sort of discretion that falls outside the parameters of waste under section 526a and cannot be enjoined by mandate Daily Journal Corp. v. County of Los Angeles (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1550, 1558. Instead the only relief the Wilson plaintiffs could obtain involved whether the developmental entitlements were proper since the party who received those entitlements was not a party to the action.

Plaintiff McGee argued on appeal the trial court was wrong because (1) the lease-leaseback agreements were not subject to validation; (2) his conflict of interest claims were in personam claims separate from his in rem reverse validation claims; and (3) the court could have ordered disgorgement as a remedy even though the projects have been finished. *Id.* at 819. The Court of Appeal rejected McGee's contentions and held the challenged lease-leaseback construction contracts were subject to validation and his conflict of interest claims moot because the subject construction projects had been built. *Id.* The *McGee III* Court said allowing McGee's claims to proceed after the projects

finished would undermine the strong policy of promptly resolving the validity of public agency actions. *Id*.

In support of its mootness analysis the McGee III Court relied on Wilson & Wilson v. City Council of Redwood City (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1559. However, this case and McGee are distinguishable from Wilson because Wilson did not involve concurrent in personam claims for disgorgement based on void public contracts against a defendant who had appeared in the case and against whom the court could grant effectual relief. Here, such defendants are present and such relief can be granted.

B. McGee's Mootness Conclusion Cannot Be Reconciled with Supreme and Appellate Opinions That Allow Disgorgement of Public Funds Received Via Conflicted Contracts After The Subject Contracts Are Fully Performed and Fully Paid

The McGee III Court quotes from Wilson & Wilson v. City Council of Redwood City (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1559, 1575 for the proposition "California law has long recognized that the completion of a public works project moots challenges to the validity of the contracts under which the project was carried out" is incorrect because those cases are factually and legally distinguishable from this case. As authority for the foregoing proposition Wilson relies on Jennings v. Strathmore Public etc. Dist. (1951) 102 Cal.App.2d 548, 549-550. Unlike this case, neither Wilson nor Jennings were adjudicating a disgorgement claim based on void contract and had a defendant over whom the court had in personam jurisdiction to enter a judgment for

disgorgement. For this reason alone *Wilson* and *Jennings* should be rejected because an appellate court's opinion "is to be understood in the light of the facts and issue then before the court, and an opinion is not authority for a proposition not therein considered" *Kirk v. First American Title Ins. Co.* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 776, 797. Further, there was no defendant named in *Wilson* or *Jennings* from whom monetary damages could be obtained. Neither case is on point.

Second, the McGee Court improperly generalizes *Wilson's* statements into a universal rule of law that 'completion of a project always moots a reverse validation action.' *Wilson* will not bear that weight, and did not purport to announce any such universal rule. The flaw in the *McGee III* Court's reasoning is that it assumes that all reverse validation actions are the same for purposes of mootness, and it tries to treat "mootness" as some kind of idealized quality independent of the nature of the facts and issues of the action at hand.

Mootness is really just shorthand for "is there any meaningful relief that can still be granted?" As *Wilson* put it, "The pivotal question in determining if a case is moot is therefore whether the court can grant the plaintiff any effectual relief. If events have made such relief impracticable, the controversy has become 'overripe' and is therefore moot." *Id.* at 1574 (citations omitted).

In *Wilson*, the relief granted by the trial court consisted of a retroactive invalidation of certain public contracts, and a

declaration that the city had lacked authority to enter into them. *Id.* at 1571. (There were also some prospective items of relief, but the court separately held that they were unripe.) The relief granted was therefore in the nature of historical criticism of the city's now-completed actions, but without any real-world, present-day consequences. In other words, it was moot. However, as *Wilson* recognizes, mootness must be judged in light of the relief sought. If there remains relief available that would still be meaningful, the case is not moot. And that is precisely why *Wilson* will not bear the weight the McGee Court ascribes to it and it must be reviewed.

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